I. Assignments of Error.

- 1. The circuit court erred in denying intervention as of right under W.Va. R. Civ. P. 24 because SWN Production Company, LLC ("SWN") has an ownership interest in the property whose title is in dispute in this action. SWN is thus a necessary and indispensable party to this case and entitled to intervene as of right.
- 2. The circuit court erred in concluding that SWN did not timely move to intervene. The circuit court failed to consider the status of the proceedings at the time SWN sought to intervene, the absence of prejudice to the existing parties, and the severe prejudice to SWN of denying intervention.
- 3. The circuit court erred by denying intervention on the grounds that SWN acquired its property interest after commencement of the lawsuit "with full knowledge that the Plaintiff did not have a 'quiet title[,]" and that an entity cannot "buy in" to litigation. Nothing in Rule 24 prohibits a party from intervening in a civil action when the party's interest was acquired after commencement of the civil action. There is no evidence to support the trial court's finding that SWN had knowledge that the Plaintiffs, William and Andrea Walden, lacked "quiet title" to the property when SWN acquired its interest.
- 4. The trial court erred by ignoring the likelihood that resolution of the underlying quiet title action may impair SWN's ability to protect its interest in the subject property. A verdict finding that the title to the oil and gas underlying the Walden Property does not belong to the Waldens would purportedly destroy SWN's exclusive legal right to lease the oil and gas rights from the Waldens.
- 5. The trial court erred by finding that "SWN and the Plaintiffs have represented to the Court that their interests are in line with each other," that SWN's interest "is identical to that

of the Plaintiffs[,]" and that SWN's interest is protected by the Waldens. SWN's interests are markedly different from, and not identical to, the Waldens' interests. There is no evidence to support a finding that SWN's interests are adequately protected by the Waldens.

6. The trial court erred in denying permissive intervention, and in finding that the existing parties would be unduly prejudiced by allowing SWN to intervene.

II. Statement of the Case.

A. Introduction.

The underlying case is a quiet title action over competing ownership claims to certain oil and gas rights in a 138.75-acre tract in Brooke County, West Virginia identified in the assessment records as Tax Map B48, Parcel 27 ("Walden Property"). JA 000001-000011 (Complaint). Putative intervenor SWN entered into an option agreement with the Waldens effective September 14, 2018 that grants SWN the exclusive right to lease the oil and gas underlying their property during a two-year period on specified terms. JA 000130-000140 (Option Agreement). SWN paid the Waldens \$24,281.25 to obtain these valuable rights. JA 000130.

As discussed more fully below, SWN's option agreement creates legally enforceable rights in real property, and resolution of the underlying claims adverse to the Waldens would impair those rights. Notwithstanding SWN's ownership interest in the Walden Property, the lower court denied SWN's motion to intervene.

SWN also has oil and gas leases for other properties in Brooke County that have instruments in their chains of title similar to the operative instrument for the Walden Property

¹ On July 23, 2020, SWN and the Waldens entered into an "Amendment and Ratification of Option to Acquire Oil and Gas Lease" ("Amended Option") that extended the duration of SWN's exclusive option rights to lease the oil and gas underlying the Walden Property through September 14, 2022. Defendants refused to include this document in the appeal record because it was not submitted to the circuit court. Contemporaneously with the filing of this brief, SWN has filed a motion to supplement the record to include the Amended Option.

Nuckolls). A court's interpretation of the language set forth in operative instrument at issue will likely influence the interpretation of other similar instruments, and therefore may affect SWN's ownership interests in oil and gas underlying other properties with a similar instrument in the chain of title. The ability to reliably and consistently determine ownership of the oil and gas estate underlying specific parcels based on recorded instruments is key to SWN's operations. SWN's ability to determine ownership of mineral interests rests upon a well-settled body of law governing how courts should interpret conveyance and/or reservation language in deeds.

In denying SWN's motion to intervene, Judge Olejasz became the second judge in Brooke County within the span of 16 months to deny intervention to SWN in a quiet title action in which SWN has an ownership interest in the subject property. By order entered on February 22, 2019, Judge Cuomo denied SWN's motion to intervene in a case that involves the interpretation of a similar recorded instrument conveying certain mineral interests to Eli Rabb. SWN has a pending appeal before this Court challenging that order, which is set for oral argument on October 6, 2020. SWN Production Company, LLC v. Conley, et al., Appeal No. 19-0267 ("Conley"). After Judge Cuomo declined to postpone a trial in Conley scheduled to start on August 26, 2019 until after resolution of SWN's appeal, this Court issued an order on July 17, 2019 doing so.²

This Court should reverse the circuit court's decision and allow SWN to intervene in the underlying case. It is black letter law that all persons who claim an interest in property must be parties to a quiet title action involving that property. *Bonafede v. Grafton Feed & Storage Co.*, 81

² This order is not in the appeal record for this case since it was not filed with the circuit court in the Walden action. This Court can, however, take judicial notice of its own order in another appeal.

W. Va. 313, 313, 94 S.E. 471, 471 (1917); O'Daniels v. City of Charleston, 200 W. Va. 711, 716, 490 S.E.2d 800, 805 (1997). SWN also satisfies the grounds for intervention set forth in Rule 24.

B. Nature of the claims in the underlying quiet title action.

The underlying civil action arises from a dispute over the ownership of certain oil and gas rights that stem from an instrument in the chain of title that is self-described as a deed dated January 22, 1962 between William Bailey Walden and Dorothy Fay Walden, as grantors, and Eli Rabb, as grantee ("Walden-Rabb Instrument"). JA 000142-000146. The language set forth in the Walden-Rabb Instrument is similar to language appearing in multiple other instruments recorded in Brooke County that purport to convey certain mineral interests to Eli Rabb ("Rabb Instruments"). JA 000148-000149 (Affidavit of Gary Nuckolls). This includes a June 5, 1959, instrument self-described as a deed from Maria H. Milliken, as grantor, to Eli Rabb, as grantee, recorded in the Brooke County, West Virginia, Clerk's Office in Deed Book 148, Page 144 ("Milliken Deed"). The Milliken Deed is at issue in *Conely*. JA 000151-000154. SWN has executed leases governing multiple properties with a Rabb Instrument in the chain of title. JA 000148-000149 (Affidavit of Gary Nuckolls).

The Walden-Rabb Instrument conveys to Eli Rabb "all the coal" underlying the Walden Property and reserves a one-half interest in the oil and gas, a one-half interest "in all oil and gas rentals" and the right to drill through a coal seam to produce gas. JA 000142-000143. The Walden-Rabb Instrument also purports to convey "rights to explore, operate and drill for Oil and Gas" together with the necessary surface rights to do so, along with an obligation to pay royalties on any produced oil and gas. JA 000143. This conveyance language is consistent with language used in oil and gas leases. The final paragraph of the Walden-Rabb Instrument states the grantors warrant title to the "said coal and mining rights," but does not mention any warranty for the oil

and gas rights. JA 000145. The Waldens are the successors in title to the grantors of the Walden-Rabb instrument (William Bailey Walden and Dorothy Fay Walden).

In June 2007, over 50 years after recording of the Walden-Rabb Instrument, Eli Rabb entered into a "Farmout Agreement" with defendant-below TriEnergy, Inc. JA 000005 (Complaint). Notwithstanding the complete absence of language in the Walden-Rabb Instrument conveying a fee interest in the oil and gas to Eli Rabb, the Farmout Agreement purports to authorize TriEnergy, Inc. to develop oil and gas underlying the Walden Property (and other properties in Brooke County). JA 000005 (Complaint). From 2007 through 2016, the putative rights created by the Farmout Agreement were subsequently divided and conveyed among multiple other parties. JA 000005-000007 (Complaint).

In the nearly 60 years since recording of the Walden-Rabb Instrument, the oil and gas underlying the Walden Property has not been developed, produced, or sold by anyone. JA 000007 (Complaint). The Walden Property has not been used for underground storage of oil or gas, and no royalties, rentals, or other monetary payments have been made to the Waldens in association with oil and gas development or storage. JA 000007 (Complaint).

C. Procedural history.

The Waldens filed their Complaint on January 23, 2018 naming a total of 11 defendants. JA 000001. The following four defendants made an appearance in the civil action: (1) TriEnergy, Inc.; (2) TriEnergy Holdings, LLC (both TriEnergy defendants will be collectively referenced as "TriEnergy"); (3) Lee Rabb, individually as trustee of the Eli Rabb Revocable Trust dated October 7, 2005 ("Rabb"); and (4) Trinity Health Systems Foundation ("Trinity Health") (these four defendants will be collectively referenced as "Defendants"). JA 000398-000399 (Docket Sheet). The Waldens filed a notice of voluntary dismissal for defendant Chevron, USA, Inc. on November

7, 2018. *Id.* The circuit court's docket does not reflect an appearance by the remaining six named defendants.³ *Id.*

TriEnergy, Rabb, and Trinity each answered the Waldens' Complaint and asserted two counterclaims: (1) a declaration that they held legal title to the oil and gas underlying the Walden Property rather than the Waldens; and (2) a claim for adverse possession of the oil and gas. JA 000012-000060. On April 18, 2018, the Waldens moved to dismiss these counterclaims. JA 000061-000084. The circuit court's docket does not reflect a hearing or ruling on this motion. JA 000398-000399.

The only activity shown in the circuit court's docket from April 19, 2018 through December 2, 2018 reflects efforts to serve process on the other defendants and the dismissal of Chevron USA, Inc. noted above. JA 000398-000399. On December 3, 2018 and December 7, 2018, TriEnergy, Rabb, and Trinity filed certificates of service for responses to discovery requests served by the Waldens. JA 000398-000399. This is the only reference in the circuit court docket to discovery activity. The docket does not reflect any deposition notices or other discovery activities. JA 000398-000399.

For the calendar year 2019, the circuit court's docket only reflects three entries. On April 9, 2019, the Court entered an order directing the parties to submit a stipulation containing information for use in preparing a scheduling order. JA 000092-000093. The parties did so on April 26, 2019. JA 000094-000095. The Court then entered a scheduling order on May 15, 2019 setting the case for trial on July 29, 2020 with a discovery completion deadline of May 20, 2020.

³ Those six defendants are: AB Resources, LLC; KRP Marcellus I, LLC; Rivercrest Royalties II, LLC; Diversified Rox Minerals, LLC; BRD Royalty Holdings, LLC; and Amon G. Carter Foundation. According to the Complaint, these entities appear in the chain of title for the rights that Rabb purportedly conveyed via the 2007 farmout agreement.

⁴ The docket does not reflect when the Waldens served Defendants with the discovery requests.

JA 000096-000100. The scheduling order also established other deadlines, including the following:

- May 27, 2020: final witness list and exhibits exchanged.
- June 3, 2020: submission of dispositive motions.

The circuit court docket reflects no subsequent activity until SWN filed its motion to intervene on February 12, 2020. JA 000399. The circuit court set that motion for hearing on April 24, 2020, which was effectively canceled via the subsequent judicial emergency declaration arising from the Covid-19 pandemic. JA 000160. A hearing later took place on June 3, 2020. JA 000365-000397. During that hearing, counsel for the Waldens noted that counsel for the existing parties exchanged emails in January, 2020 recognizing the need to amend the scheduling order, which was before SWN moved to intervene. JA 000385-000386. The circuit court's docket does not reflect any exchange of any final witness or exhibit lists that was required by the scheduling order to take place by May 27, 2020. JA 000398-000399. No dispositive motions were filed on or before the June 3, 2020 deadline. JA 000398-000399.

Noting that the July 29, 2020 trial date was less than 60 days away and the minimal discovery that had taken place, Judge Olejasz invited the parties to submit a joint motion to amend the scheduling order. JA 000395.

The following day, June 4, 2020, Judge Olejasz entered an order denying SWN's motion to intervene. JA 000269-000271. The grounds stated in the order are very similar, but not identical, to those appearing in Judge Cuomo's order denying intervention to SWN in *Conley*. A week later, on June 10, 2020, the parties submitted a joint motion to vacate the scheduling order, which was granted by order entered on June 11, 2020. JA 000272-000274. The circuit court entered a new scheduling order on June 30, 2020 setting the case for trial on May 17, 2021. JA 000275-000279.

On July 2, 2020, SWN timely filed with this Court an appeal notice of Judge Olejasz's order denying intervention. SWN then filed on July 15, 2020 a motion with the circuit court to stay further proceedings until after resolution of SWN's appeal. JA 000280-000362. The circuit court granted SWN's motion by order entered on July 23, 2020. JA 000363-000364.

III. Summary of argument.

A. Assignment of Error No. 1 (SWN's ownership interest in the property).

This Court need not look far to reverse the circuit court's denial of intervention. SWN has an ownership right to the oil and gas interests at issue in this title dispute. The circuit court is deciding whether the Waldens and SWN own the mineral rights, or whether one or more of the Defendants does. West Virginia law is crystal clear that all persons who claim an interest in property must be parties to a quiet title action involving that property, and any judgment without those persons as parties is void. SWN is thus a necessary and indispensable party to this suit for quiet title, and entitled to intervene.

B. Assignment of Error No. 2 (timeliness of intervention motion).

The circuit court abused its discretion in finding that SWN did not timely move to intervene. The circuit court failed to consider the status of the case as a whole, the severe prejudice to SWN that would result from being excluded from the case, and the absence of any unfair prejudice to the existing parties by allowing SWN to intervene. In January, 2020, before SWN moved to intervene, the existing parties recognized the need to amend the scheduling order to provide more time for discovery beyond the existing May 20, 2020 deadline. Minimal written discovery had taken place and no depositions had been scheduled, much less conducted. Both the circuit court and the parties recognized the need to amend the scheduling order during the June 3, 2020 hearing on SWN's motion regardless of whether SWN was granted intervention. No party

could have suffered any unfair prejudice as a result of the timing of SWN's motion or allowing SWN into the case.

C. Assignment of Error No. 3 (timing of SWN's property interest acquisition).

The circuit court erred as a matter of law by denying intervention on the grounds that SWN acquired its property interest after suit was filed. Nothing in Rule 24 allows the circuit court to deny intervention based on an after-acquired property right. The circuit court's interpretation of Rule 24 unfairly precludes intervention by persons who acquire an interest in property either with or without knowledge of pending litigation. Such an interpretation is contrary to the text and purpose of Rule 24 – to provide all persons having a cognizable interest in the subject of litigation with a proverbial "seat at the table" to protect their interests.

The circuit court also erred by concluding that SWN cannot "buy in" to the litigation because it purportedly had "full knowledge" that the Waldens lacked quiet title to the property, and therefore "assumed the risk" that its option agreement has no value. There is no evidence in the record to demonstrate that SWN was aware of the pending litigation when SWN entered into an option agreement with the Waldens. Regardless of any knowledge, the existence of litigation over title to property does not destroy the value of the subject property. Oil and gas rights have obvious value for development as shown by the considerable resources devoted by the existing parties and SWN in this case. The circuit court's order — not the pending litigation — has the effect of diminishing the value of property rights. The ability to "tie up" future conveyances of property rights through litigation (regardless of the merits) has the perverse effect of encouraging quite title actions by those who may benefit from depressing the market value of real property interests.

D. Assignment of Error No. 4 (likelihood of impairment).

The circuit court's order ignores the likelihood that resolution of the competing title claims could impair SWN's rights to lease the oil and gas underlying the Walden Property. A declaratory judgment quieting title in favor of TriEnergy, Rabb, and/or Trinity would purport to destroy SWN's exclusive rights to lease the Walden's oil and gas interests in the Walden Property, which would be the ultimate impairment of a property interest. By denying intervention, the circuit court precluded SWN's ability to protect its property interests in this case.

E. Assignment of Error No. 5 (adequate protection of interest).

The circuit court erred in finding that SWN's interests are identical to the Waldens' interests, and that the Waldens will adequately protect SWN's interests. The circuit court made no findings of fact concerning SWN's interests or how the Waldens would adequately protect those interests. Nor could it. SWN's interests are not fully aligned with the Waldens, and in some ways are antagonistic to the Waldens. SWN's development of oil and gas poses considerable risks not shared by mineral owners – namely the potential loss of substantial investment of time and capital associated with efforts to produce oil and gas. SWN also has leases for other properties that have a Rabb Instrument in their chain of title. A decision interpreting the Walden-Rabb instrument will likely influence the interpretation of other Rabb Instruments. There is no evidence that the Waldens' have any motivation to protect those interests. The Waldens also likely lack the same level of financial resources as SWN that can be applied to vigorously protect their property rights.

F. Assignment of Error No. 6 (permissive intervention).

The circuit court erred in denying permissive intervention on the grounds that the Waldens adequately protect SWN's interests, and the existing parties would be prejudiced by the timing of SWN's intervention. The June 4, 2020 order denying intervention notes that the July 29, 2020

trial was scheduled to commence in less than two months. The circuit court shortly thereafter vacated the scheduling order upon receipt of the joint motion anticipated during the June 3, 2020 hearing, and later entered a new scheduling order. Postponement of the trial date had nothing to do with the timing of SWN's motion. Moreover, the circuit court made no findings as to whether SWN satisfied the elements to support permissive intervention.

IV. Statement regarding oral argument and decision.

SWN requests Rule 19 oral argument. This Court is scheduled to hear Rule 19 oral argument in *Conley* on October 6, 2020. Although the factual circumstances giving rise to this appeal are different than *Conley*, many of the legal issues at issue in this appeal are also presented in *Conley*. In light of this Court's determination that the issues presented in *Conley* merit Rule 19 oral argument, and the similarity of the issues presented in this appeal, SWN believes Rule 19 oral argument would be sufficient.

V.; Argument.

A. Grounds for intervention in a pending civil action.

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