STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS Charleston

SWN Production Company, LLC Putative Intervener Below, Petitioner

v.

FILE COPY DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY NOV 1 9 2020 EDYTHE MASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

Case No. 20-0490

William K. Walden, et al., Plaintiffs and Defendants Below, Respondents

JOINT RESPONDENTS' BRIEF OF LEE M. RABB, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS TRUSTEE OF THE ELI RABB REVOCABLE TRUST DATED OCTOBER 7, 2005, TRIENERGY, INC., TRIENERGY HOLDINGS, LLC, WPP, LLC, AND TRINITY HEALTH SYSTEM FOUNDATION

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

{P0315116.1}

³ The parties discussed vacating the scheduling order dates before SWN moved to intervene.

jury determines owns the oil and gas rights to the subject property. SWN complaint that it could lose its Option with Walden is disingenuous, because SWN entered the Option with Walden fully aware that the ownership of the oil and gas rights to that property was in dispute.

Finally, SWN's interests will be fully represented by Walden because SWN has tacitly recognized that Walden owns the oil and gas rights and even if SWN had exercised it rights to an oil and gas lease, Walden has the same lease interest as SWN in the oil and gas rights of the real property. For these reasons, SWN's appeal of the circuit court's order denying it intervention in this litigation should be denied.

B. Grounds Why Intervention by SWN in the Pending Action Was Not Proper.

The paramount issue of SWN's appeal is whether the circuit court abused its discretion in denying SWN's motion to intervene. It did not. The granting of a motion to intervene is within the sound discretion of the circuit court and its Appeal can only be successful if the circuit court abused its discretion. Here, the circuit court, in denying SWN's motion to intervene, did not abuse that discretion. Although West Virginia law does not prohibit a party from creating an interest in the underlying action for the purpose of intervention, that interest must be direct and substantial. SWN's Option is neither.

This Court's standard of review of a circuit court order denying a motion to intervene has been explained as a review under the "abuse of discretion standard". Specifically, this Court has held:

"In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court, we apply a two-prong deferential standard of review. We review the final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a de novo review. Syllabus point 2, *Walker v. West Virginia Ethics Commission*, 201 W.Va. 108, 492 S.E.2d 167 (1997). Syllabus Point 1, *Coordinating Council for Independent Living, Inc. v. Palmer*, 209 W.Va. 274, 546 S.E.2d 454 (2001)."

Gibbs v. W. Virginia AFL-CIO, No. 17-0320 (W.Va. Supreme Court, October 23, 2017) (memorandum decision) (internal quotations omitted).

Additionally, this Court has stated that "[w]hile Rule 24 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure provides for the intervention of parties upon a timely application, the timeliness of any intervention is a matter of discretion with the trial court." *Id.*, 208 W. Va. at 399, 540 S.E.2d at 923 citing Syl. Pt. 10, *Pioneer Co. v. Hutchinson*, 159 W.Va. 276, 220 S.E.2d 894 (W. Va. 1975), overruled on other grounds, *State ex rel. E.D.S. Fed. Corp. v. Ginsberg*, 163 W.Va. 647, 259 S.E.2d 618 (W. Va. 1979). In *Ball*, the civil action was filed on November 17, 1998, and the petitioners' motion to intervene was filed on January 7, 1999, approximately two (2) months later. This Court determined that the petitioners' application was timely. *Id.* Therefore, this Court did not disturb the circuit court's finding that "timeliness of application is satisfied because less than two months passed before intervention was requested." *Id.* As discussed hereinbefore, the Petitioner's motion to intervene was correctly denied because SWN cannot meet the four *Ball* conditions, in part, because the motion to intervene was filed two (2) years after the Complaint and a year and a half after attempting to create its interest in the subject litigation.

C. The Circuit Court Correctly Held That SWN Did Not Have an Interest in the Real Estate Underlying the Subject Property When the Action was Filed and its Attempt to Create an Interest in the Subject Property Was Not Proper Reasons for Intervention.

As stated above, had no interest in the subject oil and gas rights when the Complaint was filed. Although it knew, or should have known, that the ownership of the oil and gas is in dispute, SWN ignored the existing lawsuit and attempted to create an interest in this matter by entering into an "option" to acquire an oil and gas lease. Although nothing within W. Va. R.

Civ. P. 24 prohibits a party from creating an interest for the purposes of a motion to intervene, that interest must be substantial and direct. "To justify intervention of right under West Virginia Rule of civil Procedure 24(a)(2) the right claimed by the proposed intervenor must be direct and substantial. A direct interest is one of such immediate character that the intervenor will either gain or lose by the direct legal operation and effect of the judgment to be rendered between the original parties. A substantial interest is one capable of definition, protectable under some law and specific to the intervenor. In determining the adequacy of the interest of the interest in a motion to intervene, courts should give due regard to the efficient conduct of the litigation." Syl. Pt. 4, *State ex rel. Ball v. Cummings*, 208, W.Va. 393, 540 S.E. 2 d 917 (1999).

Here, the interest that SWN attempted to create into the underlying action by entering into the Option with the Plaintiff is neither direct nor substantial. In fact, the Option, in its "Method of Exercising Option" section sates that the "Grantee (SWN) shall have the right but not the obligation, ...to **exercise the option...**" (emphasis supplied). The "Paid Up Oil and Gas Lease" which, was attached to the Option, and which might, arguably have created an interest in the underlying subject property was *unsigned by either SWN or the plaintiffs*.

Therefore, SWN's attempt to create an interest for the purpose of intervention relies upon Walden owning the oil and gas rights and/or SWN acquiring an oil and gas lease from Walden. As such, SWN's interest is inferior to Walden's and its interest, if applicable under the Option, is not substantial or direct.

Although Rule 24 does not require the circuit court to consider prejudice to the parties, SWN, nevertheless, makes the argument that it will be prejudiced if it is not made a party to this case. SWN's argument is not credible because *it belies the fact that SWN did not exercise the option for an oil and gas lease before attempting to intervene*. To the contrary, the Respondents

are the parties who will suffer prejudice if this case is reset to permit SWN to participate. This case was filed on January 23, 2018. Since that time, the parties conducted discovery and participated in motions practice.

D. SWN's Appeal Must Be Denied Because It Cannot Overcome the Fact that Its Motion to Intervene Was Not Timely.

SWN has not adequately explained the fifteen (15) months lapse of time between when it entered the Option with Walden, attempting to create an interest in the underlying matter, and its filing of its motion to intervene, nor does it adequately explain why it did not exercise that option and enter into an oil and gas lease with Walden during that period. Although it knew, or should have known, that this case was pending, SWN did nothing to attempt to secure its rights. On the contrary, the parties to the litigation were actively engaged in discovery and pleadings practice to push this case forward to trial. Unlike in the *Conley* case, *supra*, SWN never decided to enter into an oil and gas lease with the plaintiffs before seeking to intervene. Instead, it simply demanded that the circuit court and the parties cease two years-worth of litigation to accommodate its newly claimed "Option" for an interest in this case. A review of the facts and timeline bears this out.

SWN entered into an Option to acquire an oil and gas lease on September 14, 2018 with Walden, in an apparent attempt to create an interest in the case. In its motion to intervene filed on February 12, 2020 SWN argued, in part, that it should be permitted to intervene because it now had an option for a leasehold interest in the oil and gas rights to the subject property. Importantly, however, SWN did not file its motion to intervene until nearly a year and half after entering the lease with Walden.

This Court has held that "[West Virginia's] Rule 24 is analogous to the federal Rule 24... Timeliness is to be determined from all the circumstances and it is to be determined by the court

in the exercise of its sound discretion; unless that discretion is abused, the court's ruling will not be disturbed on review." *Pauley v. Bailey*, 171 W. Va. 651, 653, 301 S.E.2d 608, 609 (W. Va. 1983) quoting *NAACP v. New York*, 413 U.S. 345, 366, 93 S.Ct. 2591, 2603, 37 L.Ed.2d 648, 662–63 (U.S. 1973) (internal quotations omitted); *see also* Syl. Pt. 10, *Pioneer Co.*, 159 W.Va. at 291, 220 S.E.2d at 904. In *Pauley*, the Court concluded that "the trial judge properly exercised his discretion in denying appellant's motion to intervene" because petition was untimely in view of the protracted course of the litigation and because the motion to intervene was filed almost one year after the evidentiary hearings had closed and some seven months after the court's May orders." 171 W. Va. at 653, 301 S.E.2d at 609. Here, SWN's attempts to intervene were filed long after the scheduling order was entered and protracted litigation.

The Late Justice Franklin D. Cleckley wrote that "[a] trial court abuses its discretion if its ruling is based on an erroneous assessment of the evidence or the law." *Bartles v. Hinkle*, 196 W. Va. 381, 389, 472 S.E.2d 827, 835 (1996) citing *Cox v. State*, 194 W.Va. 210, 218 n. 3, 460 S.E.2d 25, 33 n. 3. (Cleckley, J., concurring). Below, the trial court's findings in its order denying SWN's second motion to intervene were diligent, well-reasoned in fact and law, and therefore not based on an erroneous assessment of the evidence. JA001024 – JA001030. As such, the trial court did not abuse its discretion and should not be reversed.

While it inexplicably dithered in filing its motion to intervene, SWN knew that the court had entered its scheduling order on May 15, 2019 and that the case was set for trial to begin on July 29, 2020. Nevertheless, SWN then waited until February 12, 2020, more than two (2) years after the Complaint was filed, and fifteen (15) months after entering the Option with Walden, to attempt to intervene. SWN, apparently, was not overly concerned with the case proceeding without its participation for the months after it attempted to create its interest in the case before

seeking to intervene. In its Appellate Brief, SWN fails to provide any meaningful explanation for its dilatory conduct; rather, it states, without providing meaningful factual support, that its attempt at intervention was timely.

This Honorable Court has upheld a circuit court's refusal of rights to parties who are dilatory in seeking them. Specifically, in regard to motions to amend, the West Virginia Supreme

Court has held:

"The liberality allowed in the amendment of pleadings pursuant to Rule 15(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure does not entitle a party to be dilatory in asserting claims or to neglect his or her case for a long period of time. Lack of diligence is justification for a denial of leave to amend where the delay is unreasonable and places the burden on the moving party to demonstrate some valid reason for his or her neglect and delay." *Lloyd's, Inc. v. Lloyd,* 225 W. Va. 377, 386, 693 S.E.2d 451, 460 (W. Va. 2010) citing Syl. Pt. 3, *State ex rel. Vedder v. Zakaib,* 217 W.Va. 528, 618 S.E.2d 537 (W. Va. 2005).

In *Vedder*, the Court upheld a circuit court's denial of Plaintiff's motion to amend his complaint because the plaintiff waited ten (10) months before moving to amend his complaint. This Court held in *State ex rel. Ball v. Cummings* a two (2) month delay before the petitioner's request for intervention was timely under W. Va. R. C. P. 24. Here, however, SWN waited more than two (2) years after the Complaint was filed to attempt to intervene. Like the plaintiff in *Vedder*, SWN was dilatory in filing its motions to intervene in the instant case.

E. The Trial Court Correctly Held That SWN's Interests Will Be Adequately Represented by Walden.

Again, unlike the *Conley* case, there is no larger parcel of property to which SWN claims to own an interest that was implicated in the underlying case. In denying SWN's motion to intervene, the circuit court recognized that, after being denied intervention, SWN entered the Option with Walden in an attempt to create an interest in the oil and gas rights in the real estate in an effort to attempt to intervene in this case. The circuit court correctly determined that SWN

should not be rewarded for attempting to create its interest in the case and did not believe that its docket should be altered to rescue SWN from the defects of its own making, including timelines. The circuit court correctly held that SWN aligned itself with Walden by entering the Option, which option it had not exercised when it sought to intervene. Since SWN knew that the ownership of the oil and gas was in dispute at the time it entered into the Option, it cannot assign error to the fact its fate is tied to Walden's ability to prosecute the action. If SWN was concerned about Walden's ability to protect its interests in this matter, it simply could have waited until the action was resolved to enter a lease, or to exercise its right to "Acquire Oil and Gas Lease".

SWN has failed to show compelling evidence that Walden will not adequately represent its interests. In *State ex rel. Ball v. Cummings*, this Court held as follows:

"If the proposed intervenor's interest is not represented by the existing party, or the existing party's interests are adverse to those of the proposed intervenor, intervention should be granted. If the interests of the proposed intervenor and the existing party are similar, a discriminating judgment is required on the circumstances of the particular case, but [the proposed intervenor] ordinarily should be allowed to intervene unless it is clear that the [existing] party will provide adequate representation for the absentee. 7C Charles A. Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary K. Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1909, p. 319 (footnote omitted). See also 26 Fed. Proc. L.Ed. Parties § 59:303. Finally, if the interests are identical, intervention should be denied unless there is a compelling showing as to why the existing representation is inadequate."

208 W. Va. 393, 400, 540 S.E.2d 917, 924 (W. Va. 1999) (emphasis added). The circuit court after analyzing the facts, correctly held that SWN's interest could be adequately represented by Walden.

As established above, Walden and SWN will have the same interest in the oil and gas underlying the subject property if SWN exercises its option, pursuant to the September 14, 2018, Option between them. The circuit court obviously recognized that SWN knew, or should have

known, of the pending litigation when it entered the Walden lease. Nevertheless, it entered the Option knowing that it would have to rely on Walden to protect its interests and should not be afforded the argument or insinuation, that the person it chose to enter an option with is wholly inadequate to protect its interests. Indeed, Walden's counsel are attorneys who have engaged in multiple oil and gas litigation matters, including the instant case.

F. The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion When It Denied SWN's Request for Permissive Intervention.

This Court has held that a circuit court's decision on an applicant's request for permissive intervention under Rule 24(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Stern v. Chemtail, Inc.* 217, W.Va. 329, 337, 617, S.E. 2 d 876, 884 (2005). In the underlying case, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying SWN permissive intervention. SWN waited more than two (2) years to seek intervention. This Honorable Court has held that a party seeking permissive intervention must be timely in its application and timeliness of that intervention is a matter of discretion with the Court. In *Pauley v. Bailey*, 171 W.Va. 651 (WV 1983) 301, S.E.2d 608 the Court held:

"we note that appellant's petition for intervention is not based on any claim of right under Rule 24(a), R.C.P., but is a claim for permissive intervention. Our Rule 24 is analogous to the federal Rule 254 and this case is similar to NAACP v. New York, 413, U.S. 345, 93 S.Ct. 2591, 37 L.Ed.2d 648 (1973), where the Supreme Court upheld denial of intervention in a voting discrimination case as untimely. The Court recognized that Rule 24 requires that intervention must be timely sought and went on to state:

"Timeliness is to be determined from all the circumstances. And it is to be determined by the court in the exercise of its sound discretion; unless that discretion is abused, the court's ruling will not be disturbed on review." 413 U.S. at 366, 93 S.Ct. at 2603, 37 L.Ed.2d at 662-63." *Id*.

Not only did the circuit court **not** abuse its discretion in denying SWN's request for

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